Document Pack



sirgar.llyw.cymru carmarthenshire.gov.wales

MONDAY, 6 DECEMBER 2021

TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE

I HEREBY SUMMON YOU TO ATTEND A VIRTUAL MEETING OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE WHICH WILL BE HELD AT 2.00 PM, ON MONDAY, 13TH DECEMBER, 2021 FOR THE TRANSACTION OF THE BUSINESS OUTLINED ON THE ATTACHED AGENDA.

Wendy Walters

CHIEF EXECUTIVE



Democratic Officer:	Emma Bryer
Telephone (direct line):	01267 224029
E-Mail:	ebryer@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP

STANDARDS COMMITTEE

MEMBERSHIP: 9 MEMBERS

<u>Independent Members (5)</u>

- 1. Mrs Mary Dodd
- 2. Ms Caryl Davies
- 3. Mrs Daphne Evans
- 4. Mrs Julie James
- 5. Mr Frank Phillips

Community Committee Member (1)

1. Town Councillor Philip Rogers

Elected Members of the County Council (3)

- 1. Councillor Jeanette Gilasbey
- 2. Councillor Rob James
- 3. Councillor Gareth Thomas

AGENDA

1.	APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.	
2.	DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTEREST.	
3.	APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR AND VICE-CHAIR	5 - 8
4.	TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE HELD ON THE 20TH SEPTEMBER, 2021.	9 - 12
5.	CODE OF CONDUCT DATA FROM TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCILS	13 - 22
6.	STANDARDS COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT	23 - 32
7.	LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND ELECTIONS (WALES) ACT 2021	33 - 36
8.	RECENT CASE - NEWPORT CITY COUNCIL STANDARDS COMMITTEE DECISION - CLLR JOAN WATKINS	37 - 52
9.	ANY OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS THAT BY REASON OF SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES THE CHAIR DECIDES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED AS A MATTER OF URGENCY PURSUANT TO SECTION 100B(4)(B) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972	



STANDARDS COMMITTEE 13/12/2021

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR AND VICE-CHAIR

Recommendations / key decisions required:

To appoint a new committee chair for the remainder of the municipal year

Reasons:

The term of office of the preceding chair ended on the 6th December 2021

Relevant scrutiny committee to be consulted NA

Cabinet Decision Required NA

Council Decision Required NA

CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:- Clir Emlyn Dole - Leader

Directorate: Designations: Tel:

Name of Head of Service: Head of Administration and Email addresses:

Law rjedgeco@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Linda Rees-Jones

Report Author:
Robert Edgecombe

Legal Services Manager

01267 224018



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY STANDARDS COMMITTEE 13/12/2021

APPOINTMENT OF	CHAIR AND VICE-CHAIR
The term of office of the preceding Chair of the conew Chairperson must therefore be chosen by the	
Regulations prescribe that the Chair of a Standa independent members.	ards Committee must be one of the co-opted
In the event that the current Vice-Chair is selected necessary also to select a new Vice-Chair, again	
DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED?	No



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this report:

ones	Administration and Law
	ones

Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities	Legal	Finance	ICT	Risk Management Issues	Staffing Implications	Physical Assets
NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE

CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed: LRJones Head of Administration and Law

- 1. Scrutiny Committee not applicable
- 2.Local Member(s) not applicable
- 3.Community / Town Council it is suggested that such consultation take place
- 4.Relevant Partners not applicable
- 5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations not applicable

CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDER(S)	NO
AWARE/CONSULTED	

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

Title of Document	File Ref No.	Locations that the papers are available for public inspection
Legal Services file	DPSC-192	County Hall, Carmarthen





Agenda Item 4

Standards Committee

Monday, 20 September 2021

PRESENT: M.A. Morgan (Chair)

Independent Members:

M. Dodd, D. Evans, J. James, and A. Williams

Community Member:

Town Councillor P. Rogers

Councillors:

W.T. Evans (substitute for Councillor G.B. Thomas) and S.J.G. Gilasbey

The following Officers were in attendance:

R. Edgecombe, Legal Services Manager;

E. Bryer, Democratic Services Officer;

A. Eynon, Principal Translator;

M.S. Davies, Democratic Services Officer.

Virtual Meeting: 10.00 am - 11.00 am

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

An apology for absence was received from Councillor G.B. Thomas.

2. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTEREST

There were no declarations of personal interest.

3. MINUTES - 12TH JULY, 2021

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Standards Committee held on the 12th July, 2021 be signed as a correct record.

4. CODE OF CONDUCT TRAINING

The Committee considered a report on the code of conduct virtual training sessions held for Town and Community councillors on the 21st and 22nd July 2021. Attendance had been slightly down on previous years with a total of 23 councils (roughly a third of the total number) represented. Copies of the training presentation, a briefing note on recent code of conduct cases and a feedback questionnaire had been sent to all Town and Community Councils. It was noted that Carmarthen Town Council had also arranged its own code training events with One Voice Wales on the 20th and 21st July which had been attended by 9 of its councillors plus the clerk and deputy clerk.

It was suggested that future sessions, whether held at a specific venue, virtually or on a hybrid basis, be recorded to allow them to be viewed by individuals at a later date should they choose and that case studies be replaced with reviews of the most recent cases

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED to note the report and endorse the above suggestions.



5. CODE OF CONDUCT DATA

Further to minute 7 of the meeting held on the 25th March 2021, at which it had been agreed to undertake another annual exercise collecting code compliance data from Town and Community Councils, it was reported that a letter had been sent to all 72 councils on the 13th April 2021 asking for replies by the 1st June 2021. The Committee was informed that the total number of councils that had responded remained 54 out of 72 as indicated in the report. The Legal Services Manager stated that he would send out a further reminder to those Town and Community Councils that had not responded.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED to note the progress made to date in obtaining data from Town and Community Councils.

6. REVISED CODE OF CONDUCT GUIDANCE

The Committee considered a report detailing two sets of revised guidance issued by The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales on the application of the Members Code of Conduct. The first set of guidance was directed at members of county borough councils, fire and rescue authorities, national park authorities and police and crime panels whilst the second set was directed at Town and Community councils. The revised guidance reflected legislative changes introduced by the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021.

In response to a comment the Legal Services Manager advised that it would be appropriate to defer submission of the Committee's draft Annual Report until the meeting scheduled in March 2022.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED

- 6.1 to note the revised guidance issued by the Public services Ombudsman for Wales and that Town and Community Councils be provided with a link to the on-line guidance;
- 6.2 that Town and Community Councils be encouraged to adopt the 'Model Local Resolution Protocol for Community and Town Councils' which was available from One Voice Wales.

7. ADJUDICATION PANEL FOR WALES - CLLR DAVID POOLE

The Committee considered a report detailing the Adjudication Panel for Wales (APW) decision on the case of Councillor David Poole, former leader of Caerphilly County Borough Council.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED to note the Panel's decision.

8. REVIEW OF WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

Further to minute 5 of the last meeting at which concern had been expressed that the Chair of the Committee was named in the Whistleblowing Policy as a possible contact for whistleblowers it was reported that a study of the whistleblowing policies of neighbouring authorities had shown that none of them included the Chair of Standards Committee as a possible contact for whistleblowers. It was considered important, however, given the role that the Committee had in exercising oversight of the policy, that the Chair's details were not removed completely but that only his/her council e-mail address be provided. It was therefore suggested that the Policy be amended in accordance with proposals



outlined in the circulated draft, which clarified that the Chair of Standards would not act as a contact officer if approached by a whistleblower.

It was suggested that any person named as a contact officer within the Policy should have specific training for that role.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED to note and approve the proposals outlined subject to it being emphasised that the officers in the table headed by the Chief Executive [which included the Chair of the Standards Committee] were not 'contact' officers in regard to whistleblowing.

9. ANY OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS THAT BY REASON OF SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES THE CHAIR DECIDES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED AS A MATTER OF URGENCY PURSUANT TO SECTION 100B(4)(B) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972.

There were no items of urgent business.

CHAIR	DATE





Agenda Item 5

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 13/12/2021

CODE OF CONDUCT DATA FROM TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCILS

Recommendations / key decisions required:

To note the available data

Reasons:

Monitoring code of conduct compliance by Town and Community Councils is part of the role of the Committee

Relevant scrutiny committee to be consulted NA

Cabinet Decision Required NA

Council Decision Required NA

CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:- Clir Emlyn Dole - Leader

Directorate: Designations: Tel:

Name of Head of Service: Head of Administration and Email addresses:

Law rjedgeco@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Linda Rees-Jones

Report Author: 01267 224018

Robert Edgecombe Legal Services Manager



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY STANDARDS COMMITTEE 13/12/2021

CODE OF CONDUCT DATA FROM TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCILS

In accordance with previously established practice, letters were sent to all Town and Community Councils in the County in April 2021 seeking information regarding code of conduct compliance over the preceding 12 months. Further letters were sent in July and November to those Councils who had not responded.

As at the date of writing this report responses had been received from X of 72 councils. The data provided has been combined with other information held by the County Council to populate the attached spreadsheet. This also contains comparable data for previous years to help identify any trends.

Overall, the following conclusions can be drawn.

- There is still no obvious correlation between code training and the number of complaints
- The number of complaints, although higher this year, is still low overall bearing in mind the large numbers of councillors involved
- Problems in a single council can disproportionately affect the overall number of complaints during the year
- There are wide variations in the numbers of declarations of interest being made between councils.
- Committee members should note that owing to the disruption caused by the Coronavirus pandemic no request for data was sent to councils last year in respect of the period 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020. Data shown for that period therefore is limited to that held by the County Council.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED?	YES



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this report:

Signed: LRJones Administration and Law

Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities	Legal	Finance	ICT	Risk Management Issues	Staffing Implications	Physical Assets
NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE

CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed: LRJones Head of Administration and Law

- 1. Scrutiny Committee not applicable
- 2.Local Member(s) not applicable
- 3.Community / Town Council it is suggested that such consultation take place
- **4.Relevant Partners** not applicable
- 5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations not applicable

EXECUTIVE BOARD PORTFOLIO
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED

NO

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

Title of Document	File Ref No.	Locations that the papers are available for public inspection
Legal Services file	DPSC-192	County Hall, Carmarthen





Council	Code Training 2017/2018	Dispensations 2017/2018	Code Complaints 2017/2018	Declarations 2017/2018	Code training 2018/2019	Dispensations 2018/2019	Code Complaints 2018/2019	Declarations 2018/2019	Code Training 2019/2020	Dispensations 2019/2020	Code Complaints 2019/2020	Declarations 2019/2020	Code Training 2020/2021	Dispensations 2020/2021	Code Complaints 2020/2021	Declarations 2020/2021	Comments (ND=No Data)
Abergwili	ND	0	0	ND	0	0	0	1	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	0	
Abernant	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND		0	0		
Ammanford Town	Yes	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	56	
Betws	ND	0	0	ND	4	0	6	4	ND	0	0	ND	Yes	0	4	7	
Bronwydd	ND	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	0	
Carmarthen Town	Yes	0	0	76	0	10	0	41	ND	0	0	ND	Yes	1	0	17	
Cenarth	Yes	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	0	
Cilycwm	ND	0	0	ND	3	0	0	12	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	9	
Cilymaenllwyd	No	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	ND	0	0	ND		0	0		
Cwmamman Town	Yes	0	0	22	6	0	0	41	ND	0	0	ND		0	0		
Cynwyl Elfed	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	3	
Cynwyl Gaeo	No	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	0	
Dyffryn Cennen	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	9	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	3	
Eglw Gymyn	ND	0	0	ND	2	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	0	
Gorsias	No	18	0	39	0	0	0	40	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	42	

Council	Code Training 2017/2018	Dispensations 2017/2018	Code Complaints 2017/2018	Declarations 2017/2018	Code training 2018/2019	Dispensations 2018/2019	Code Complaints 2018/2019	Declarations 2018/2019	Code Training 2019/2020	Dispensations 2019/2020	Code Complaints 2019/2020	Declarations 2019/2020	Code Training 2020/2021	Dispensations 2020/2021	Code Complaints 2020/2021	Declarations 2020/2021	Comments (ND=No Data)
Henllan Fallteg	Yes	0	0	5	1	0	0	2	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	3	
Kidwelly Town	Yes	0	0	35	4	3	0	29	ND	0	0	ND	No	1	0	64	
Laugharne Town	Yes	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	1	ND	No	0	0	5	
Llanarthne	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND		0	0		
Llanboidy	Yes	0	0	ND	2	0	0	37	ND	0	0	ND	Yes	0	0	57	
Llanddarog	Yes	0	0	16	3	4	0	13	ND	0	0	ND		0	0		
Llanddeusant	No	0	0	4	0	0	0	3	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	10	
Llanddowror & Llanmiloe	ND	0	2	ND	2	0	0	2	ND	0	0	ND	Yes	0	0	6	
Llandeilo Town	YES	0	0	ND	8	1	0	21	ND	1	0	ND	Yes	0	0	15	
Llandovery Town	ND	0	0	ND	0	0	0	8	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	0	
Llandybie	No	4	0	21	0	0	0	6	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	13	
Llandyfaelog	Yes	0	0	25	9	0	0	20	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	13	
Llanedi	Yes	0	0	13	8	0	3	17	ND	0	0	ND		0	0		
	Yes	0	0	14	2	0	0	0	ND	0	0	ND	Yes	0	0	2	
Llanelli Rural	Yes	0	1	53	1	0	1	19	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	3	86	

Council	Code Training 2017/2018	Dispensations 2017/2018	Code Complaints 2017/2018	Declarations 2017/2018	Code training 2018/2019	Dispensations 2018/2019	Code Complaints 2018/2019	Declarations 2018/2019	Code Training 2019/2020	Dispensations 2019/2020	Code Complaints 2019/2020	Declarations 2019/2020	Code Training 2020/2021	Dispensations 2020/2021	Code Complaints 2020/2021	Declarations 2020/2021	Comments (ND=No Data)
Llanelli Town	Yes	0	0	44	19	0	0	41	ND	0	0	ND	Yes	1	2	29	
Llanfair ar y Bryn	No	0	0	8	0	0	0	9	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	2	
Llanfihangel Aberbythych	ND	0	0	ND	0	0	0	0	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	9	
Llanfihangel ar Arth	Yes	0	0	4	0	0	0	1	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	2	
Llanfihangel Rhos y Corn	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND		0	0		
Llanfynydd	ND	0	0	ND	2	0	0	5	ND	0	0	ND	Yes	0	2	3	
Llangadog	ND	0	0	ND	0	0	0	7	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	2	
Llangain	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND		0	0	1	
Llangathen	ND	0	0	ND	3	0	0	5	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	0	
Llangeler	Yes	0	0	33	3	0	0	38	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	8	
Llangennech	ND	0	0	ND	0	0	0	5	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	4	
Llangyndeyrn	ND	0	0	ND	0	0	0	27	ND	0	1	ND	No	0	0	0	
Llangunnor	YES	0	0	ND	4	0	1	13	ND	0	1	ND	Yes	0	1	7	
ာ Llaggynin	Yes	0	0	ND	2	0	0	0	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	0	
O Llangunog	No	0	0	4	1	0	0	6	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	10	

Council	Code Training 2017/2018	Dispensations 2017/2018	Code Complaints 2017/2018	Declarations 2017/2018	Code training 2018/2019	Dispensations 2018/2019	Code Complaints 2018/2019	Declarations 2018/2019	Code Training 2019/2020	Dispensations 2019/2020	Code Complaints 2019/2020	Declarations 2019/2020	Code Training 2020/2021	Dispensations 2020/2021	Code Complaints 2020/2021	Declarations 2020/2021	Comments (ND=No Data)
Llanllawddog	No	0	0	3	1	0	0	7	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	1	
Llanllwni	ND	0	0	ND	1	0	0	12	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	2	
Llannon	Yes	0	0	23	5	0	0	23	ND	0	0	ND		0	0		
Llanpumsaint	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0		Response provided for 20/21 directing committee to Councils website for the information
Llansadwrn	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	8	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	10	
Llansawel	ND	0	0	ND	0	0	0	7	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	8	
Llansteffan & Llanybri	YES	1	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	Yes	0	0	11	
Llanwinio	No	0	0	9	1	0	0	2	ND	0	0	ND	Yes	0	0	7	
Llanwrda	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	1	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	2	
Llanybydder	ND	0	0	ND	0	0	0	5	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	3	
Llanycrwys	ND	0	0	ND	0	0	0	0	ND	0	0	ND		0	0		
Manordeilo & Salem	Yes	0	0	12	5	2	0	24	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	15	
Meidrim	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	3	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	6	
P Agefai	Yes	0	0	2	2	2	0	0	ND	1	0	ND	No	0	0	0	
NewPastle Emlyn Tow	No	0	0	31	1	0	0	19	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	0	

Council	Code Training 2017/2018	Dispensations 2017/2018	Code Complaints 2017/2018	Declarations 2017/2018	Code training 2018/2019	Dispensations 2018/2019	Code Complaints 2018/2019	Declarations 2018/2019	Code Training 2019/2020	Dispensations 2019/2020	Code Complaints 2019/2020	Declarations 2019/2020	Code Training 2020/2021	Dispensations 2020/2021	Code Complaints 2020/2021	Declarations 2020/2021	Comments (ND=No Data)
Newchurch &																	
Merthyr	ND	0	0	ND	0	0	0	1	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	1	
Pembrey & Burry Port Town	YES	0	14	80	0	0	15	77	ND	1	1	ND	Yes	0	0	61	
Pencarreg	No	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	ND	0	0	ND		0	0		
Pendine	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	4	
Pontyberem	ND	0	0	ND	2	0	0	1	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	3	
Quarter Bach	ND	0	0	ND	0	0	0	27	ND	0	0	ND		0	0		
St. Clears Town	Yes	0	0	7	6	2	0	18	ND	1	0	ND	No	0	0	7	
St. Ishmael	Yes	1	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	9	
Talley	Yes	0	0	4	2	0	0	0	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	1	
Trelech a'r Betws	ND	0	0	ND	0	0	0	0	ND	0	0	ND	No	0	0	0	
Trimsaran	Yes	0	0	9	0	0	0	15	ND	0	0	ND	Yes	0	0	0	
Whitland Town	Yes	0	0	3	9	6	0	11	ND	1	0	ND		0	0		

This page is intentionally left blank

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 13/12/2021

STANDARDS COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT

Recommendations / key decisions required:

To note the draft report and make such changes as are considered appropriate prior to its presentation at Full Council

Reasons:

The committee is required to report annually to Full Council

Relevant scrutiny committee to be consulted NA

Cabinet Decision Required NA

Council Decision Required NA

CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:- Cllr Emlyn Dole - Leader

Directorate: Designations: Tel:

Name of Head of Service: Head of Administration and Email addresses:

Law rjedgeco@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Linda Rees-Jones

Report Author: 01267 224018

Robert Edgecombe Legal Services Manager



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY STANDARDS COMMITTEE 13/12/2021

STANDARDS COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT
In accordance with requirements placed upon it, the Standards Committee reports annually to Full Council detailing its activities during the preceding municipal year.
In recent years this report has been presented to Full Council in January, to allow sufficient time for code of conduct data to be gathered from Town and Community Councils.
A copy of this year's draft report is attached for consideration.
Committee members should note that with effect from May 2022 the provisions of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 will apply regarding the production of such reports and therefore both the timing and content of the reports will need to change.
DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED?



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this report:

ones	Administration and Law
	ones

Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities	Legal	Finance	ICT	Risk Management Issues	Staffing Implications	Physical Assets
NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE

CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed: LRJones Head of Administration and Law

- 1. Scrutiny Committee not applicable
- 2.Local Member(s) not applicable
- 3.Community / Town Council it is suggested that such consultation take place
- 4.Relevant Partners not applicable
- 5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations not applicable

от от терено от										
CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDER(S)	NO									
AWARE/CONSULTED										

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

Title of Document	File Ref No.	Locations that the papers are available for public inspection
Legal Services file	DPSC-192	County Hall, Carmarthen





STANDARDS COMMITTEE

ANNUAL REPORT 2020-2021

Introduction

- 1. Period Covered by the Report
- 2. Terms of Reference
- 3. Membership of the Committee
- 4. Code of Conduct Complaints
- 5. Applications for Dispensation
- 6. Code of Conduct Training
- 7. Whistleblowing Policy
- 8. Code Compliance by Town and Community Councils
- 9. Other Activities
- 10. Conclusion

INTRODUCTION

The law requires every County and County Borough Council in Wales to establish and maintain a Standards Committee. Such committees are responsible for overseeing standards of conduct for elected members of both the principal council and the constituent community and town councils within the principal council's area.

The Committee receives and determines applications for dispensation from elected members in relation to the Code of Conduct and adjudicates upon code complaints referred to the Council by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales. However, it should be noted that only rarely has the Committee been requested to undertake this latter function.

The Committee also receives reports in relation to the operation of the Council's whistle-blowing policy.

1. PERIOD COVERED BY THE REPORT

This report covers the activities of the Standards Committee during the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021

2. TERMS OF REFERENCE

The role and functions of the committee as set out in the constitution of the Council are:

- To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by councillors and co-opted members
- To assist councillors and co-opted members to observe the Members' Code of conduct
- To advise the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members' Code of Conduct
- To monitor operation of the Members' Code of Conduct
- To advise, or arrange training for councillors and co-opted members on matters relating to the Members' Code of Conduct
- To grant dispensations to councillors and co-opted members where they have a personal and prejudicial interest under the Members' Code of Conduct
- To deal with reports from the Adjudication Panel for Wales and reports from the Monitoring Officer or the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
- The exercise of the above functions in relation to Town and Community Councils in the county
- To receive annual reports on the operation of the Council's Whistleblowing Policy

3. MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE

The Panel consists of 9 members, 3 County councillors, 1 Community councillor and 5 coopted members.

There were no no changes to the co-opted members of the committee during the period covered by this report. The co-opted members were.

Mr. Andre Morgan (Chair)

Mrs. Mary Dodd (Vice-chair)

Mrs. Daphne Evans

Mrs. Julie James

Mr. Alun Williams

There was no change to the Community council member of the committee. He was Councillor Philip Rogers (St. Clears Town Council)

There were no changes to the County Councillor membership of the committee during the year. The members were:

Councillor. Jeanette Gilasbey Councillor. Gareth Thomas Councillor. Rob James

Although falling outside the period of this report, I would like to thank both my predecessor as Chair, Mr. Andre Morgan and Mr Alun Williams, both of whose terms of office on the committee came to an end in December 2021. Both Mr Morgan and Mr Williams contributed greatly to the work of the committee and their contribution was highly valued by their fellow members.

4. CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS

The Committee was not required to adjudicate upon any Code of Conduct complaints during the period of this report.

Formal complaints about councillors who are suspected of breaching the Code of Conduct are referred directly to the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales without involving the Standards Committee. Most complaints are resolved by the Ombudsman but occasionally the Ombudsman may require the Committee to investigate and adjudicate on a complaint.

In 2020-21 however, the Ombudsman did not refer any complaints to the Committee, nor were any matters referred to the Adjudication Panel for Wales in respect of Councillors from Carmarthenshire.

During the period covered by this report the Ombudsman considered and closed a total of 15 code of conduct complaints against councillors from Carmarthenshire. The breakdown of these complaints is shown in the table below

COUNCIL	No. of Complaints
Carmarthenshire County Council	3
Betws Community Council	4
Llanelli Rural Council	3
Llanelli Town Council	2
Llanfynydd Community Council	2
Llangunnor Community Council	1
Total	15

It should be noted however that in all these cases the Ombudsman either closed his investigation after initial consideration or found no action was necessary.

Therefore, although the number of complaints does represent an increase over 2019-2020 the committee is satisfied that the vast majority of councillors do comply with the code and that where allegations of breach are made they are either unfounded or are not considered by the Ombudsman to be sufficiently serious to warrant enforcement action.

5. APPLICATIONS FOR DISPENSATION

The Committee considered 7 applications for dispensation from County and Community and Town Councillors during the year, all but one of which were either granted or partly granted.

This represents a significant reduction compared to previous years.

The grounds upon which the Committee may grant a dispensation are set out in the Standards Committees (Grant of Dispensations) (Wales) Regulations 2001.

The Committee continues to approach each application with a presumption in favour of granting a dispensation wherever practicable, particularly in relation to granting a dispensation to speak only.

Details of the applications that have been dealt with can be viewed as part of the minutes of the meetings of the Committee which are accessible on Carmarthenshire County Council's website www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk.

A comparison between the numbers of dispensation applications received since 2015/2016 shows the following:

YEAR	TOTAL	CCC	T/CC	GRANTED*	REFUSED	OTHER
2015/16	65	5	60	62	3	N/A
2016/17	21	4	17	18	3	N/A
2017/18	31	7	24	31	0	N/A
2018/19	55	42	13	52	3	N/A
2019/2020	25	19	6	24	1	N/A
2020/2021	7	6	1	6	1	N/A

^{*} either granted or partly granted

6. CODE OF CONDUCT TRAINING

Due to the disruption caused by the Coronavirus pandemic that usual annual code of conduct training sessions for Town and Community Councils could not be held. Instead, the proposed training presentation and reference materials were circulated to all Councils.

7. WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Committee has oversight of the authority's Whistleblowing Policy. The process is regulated by the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998, which protects against dismissal and other detriment for workers who disclose information in the public interest in prescribed circumstances to prescribed persons.

The number of whistleblowing complaints recorded during the period of this report are set out below.

New	Complaints carried	Cases	Cases
Complaints	over from 2019/20	Concluded	Continuing
3	6	7	1

The number of complaints continues to be consistent with those received by other local authorities.

It is pleasing to note a significant reduction in the number of cases being carried over into the following year for investigation, from 6 in 2019/2020 to just 1 in 2020/2021.

The Committee reviewed the Whistleblowing Policy during the period covered by this report and made changes which reflected the experience of its operation during the year.

8. CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLIANCE BY TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCILS

The committee again received a report regarding the extent to which Town and Community Councils within the County are complying with the Code of Conduct. The report contained data relating to:

- Code complaints
- Dispensation requests
- Declaration of interests
- Code Training

No obvious patterns or trends could be discerned from the data. Overall levels of compliance with the code appear to be good.

OTHER ACTIVITIES

In addition to the above activities the Committee also:

- Received and considered case decisions of the Adjudication Panel for Wales
- Received and considered case decisions made by other Standards Committees in Wales
- Received and considered the Code of Conduct casebook published by the Ombudsman

Where appropriate the Committee has identified points of learning and best practice and has taken them into account in their own decision making and included them in the training referred to in paragraph 5 above.

9. **CONCLUSION**

The committee had a busy year and we are grateful for the help and support given to us by the council's legal department. We have been much encouraged by the generally good levels of compliance with the Code of Conduct exhibited by Councillors across the County and very much hope this will continue in to the coming election year.

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 13/12/2021

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND ELECTIONS (WALES) ACT 2021

Recommendations / key decisions required:

To note the legislative changes being made by the Act in relation to political group leaders and agree the approach that the committee is to take on the issue

Reasons:

The Act places new duties on political group leaders in relation to member conduct

Relevant scrutiny committee to be consulted NA

Exec. Board Decision Required NA

Council Decision Required NA

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:- Cllr Emlyn Dole - Leader

Directorate: Tel: Designations:

Head of Administration and Name of Head of Service: Email addresses:

Law

rjedgeco@carmarthenshire.gov.uk Linda Rees-Jones

01267 224018 Report Author:

Legal Services Manager Robert Edgecombe

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY STANDARDS COMMITTEE 13/12/2021

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND ELECTIONS (WALES) ACT 2021

The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 contains several provisions which directly relate to political group leaders and the working of the Standards Committee. These are

- A duty on the leaders of political groups to take reasonable steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the members of their group
- A duty on the leaders of political groups to co-operate with the standards committee in the exercise of that committee's functions
- Amending the functions of the Standards Committee to include monitoring compliance by group leaders with the above duties and advising and training them in respect of those duties.
- Introduces a statutory requirement on Standards committees to produce an annual report as soon as possible after the end of each financial year. And prescribes certain content to be included in those reports, namely
 - (a) A summary of what has been done to discharge the functions referred to above
 - (b) A summary of any reports or recommendations received
 - (c) A summary of any action taken following consideration of any reports or recommendations received
 - (d) An assessment of the extent to which political group leaders have complied with their duties under the Act

The Committee therefore needs to consider how it will

- engage with political group leaders in relation to their duties
- assess how political group leaders have complied with their duties under the Act

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED?	NO
	•



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this report:

Administration and Law

Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities	Legal	Finance	ICT	Risk Management Issues	Staffing Implications	Physical Assets
NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE

CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed: *LRJones* Head of Administration and Law

- 1. Scrutiny Committee not applicable
- 2.Local Member(s) not applicable
- 3.Community / Town Council it is suggested that such consultation take place
- 4.Relevant Partners not applicable
- 5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations not applicable

CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDER(S)	NO
AWARE/CONSULTED	

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

Title of Document	File Ref No.	Locations that the papers are available for public inspection
Legal Services file	DPSC-192	County Hall, Carmarthen





STANDARDS COMMITTEE 13/12/2021

NEWPORT CITY COUNCIL STANDARDS COMMITTEE DECISION CLLR JOAN WATKINS

Recommendations / key decisions required:

To note the decision made by the Standards Committee for Newport City Council

Reasons:

Such decisions provide useful guidance and points of learning

Relevant scrutiny committee to be consulted NA

Cabinet Decision Required NA

Council Decision Required NA

CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:- Cllr Emlyn Dole - Leader

Directorate: Designations: Tel:

Name of Head of Service: Head of Administration and | Email addresses:

Linda Rees-Jones

Law

rjedgeco@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Report Author: 01267 224018

Robert Edgecombe Legal Services Manager



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY STANDARDS COMMITTEE 13/12/2021

NEWPORT CITY COUNCIL STANDARDS COMMITTEE DECISION CLLR JOAN WATKINS

On the 22nd September 2021 the Standards Committee for Newport City Council considered the case of Councillor Joan Watkins following a complaint to and investigation by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales

The allegations were that Councillor Watkins had breached Newport City Council's Code of Conduct in that she had improperly used her position as a member of the council and local health board when she advocated on behalf of a patient at a doctor's surgery and subsequently when making complaints to the health board about the surgery staff. These complaints were also exaggerated.

The Committee found that Councillor Watkin had breached paragraph 7(a) of the code

7(a) – not to, in an official capacity or otherwise, use or attempt to use her position improperly to confer on or secure for herself, or any other person, an advantage or create or avoid for herself, or any other person, a disadvantage.

Having regard to the aggravating factors present in the case the Committee determined that Councillor Watkins should be suspended from her role as councillor for a period of 3 months

A copy of the full decision of the Standards Committee is attached to this report.

YES
. = 0



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this report:

ones	Administration and Law
ı	ones

Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities	Legal	Finance	ICT	Risk Management Issues	Staffing Implications	Physical Assets
NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE	NONE

CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed: LRJones Head of Administration and Law

- 1. Scrutiny Committee not applicable
- 2.Local Member(s) not applicable
- 3.Community / Town Council it is suggested that such consultation take place
- 4.Relevant Partners not applicable
- 5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations not applicable

CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDER(S)	NO			
AWARE/CONSULTED				

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

Title of Document	File Ref No.	Locations that the papers are available for public inspection
Legal Services file	DPSC-192	County Hall, Carmarthen





Standards Committee Hearing Notice of Determination



Date: Wednesday, 22 September 2021

Time: 3.00 pm

Venue: Microsoft Teams Meeting

Attendance: A. Mitchell (Chair), J. Davies, T. Britton, R. Morgan, P. Worthington,

Councillor D. Wilcox, Councillor P Hourahine.

Apologies: K. Watkins (Vice Chair), Councillor Fouweather

- 1. The Standards Committee of Newport City Council ("the Council") considered a report by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales ("the Ombudsman") regarding an alleged breach of the Council's statutory Code of Conduct for Members by Councillor Joan Watkins. The report was referred to the Standards Committee by the Ombudsman for determination in accordance with Section 71(2) of the Local Government Act 2000 ("the 2000 Act").
- 2. On 18 August 2020, the Ombudsman received a complaint from the Practice Manager of Isca Medical Centre ("the Practice"), Mrs Caroline Perkins, that Councillor Joan Watkins had failed to observe the Code of Conduct for members of the Council. It was alleged that Councillor Watkins had improperly used her position as a member of the Council when she advocated on behalf of a patient of the Practice.
- 3. The Ombudsman conducted an investigation into the complaint in accordance with section 69 of the 200 Act. The Ombudsman concluded that Councillor Watkins may have breached paragraph 7(a) of the Council's Code of Conduct for Members and his investigation report dated 13th July 2021 (Case: 202001914) was referred to the Standards Committee for consideration.
- 4. Standards Committee meeting on 29th July 2021 considered the Ombudsman's investigation report and made an initial determination that that there was a case to answer in terms of the alleged breach of the Members Code of Conduct. Therefore, the Committee decided that the matter should proceed to a full hearing and that Councillor Watkins should be given the opportunity to make representations in respect of the allegations.
- 5. At the hearing on 22nd September 2021, the Ombudsman was represented by Leigh McAndrew, the Investigating Officer, and by Sinead Cook, Assistant Investigation Manager. Councillor Watkins appeared in person and was accompanied and supported by her colleague Councillor William Routley. The Standards Committee was advised on

matters of law and procedure by the Council's Head of Law and Regulation and Monitoring Officer.

Stage 1 – Preliminary procedural issues

- 6. Apologies for absence were received from Kerry Watkins (Vice Chair) and Councillor David Fouweather.
- 7. There were no declarations of interest.
- 8. The Chair asked Councillor Watkins whether she wished to ask the Committee to exclude the press and public from all or part of the hearing and whether she considered that any of the agenda papers should be kept confidential at this stage.

 The Ombudsman's representatives had already indicated in advance of the hearing that they saw no reason for the hearing to be conducted in private or for the papers to be kept confidential. Councillor Watkins confirmed that she did not wish to exclude the press and public as she had nothing to hide and she had no objection to the investigation report and background papers being made public. Therefore, the hearing was conducted in public in accordance with the Council's remote meetings Protocol, save for those parts of the hearing where the Standards Committee retired in private to deliberate. The public parts of the meeting were recorded and uploaded onto the Council's website for public viewing. The Ombudsman's investigation report and the other background papers previously circulated with the meeting agenda as Part 2 documents were also made available on the Council website for public inspection.
- 9. The Chair confirmed that everyone had received a copy of the hearings procedure and understood the process that the Committee would follow in determining the matter.

Stage 2 – Findings of Fact

10. The Chair asked Councillor Watkins to confirm whether there were any disputed facts, as identified in the Investigating Officer's report. The investigation report identified two potential areas of disputed fact:-

"Was Councillor Watkins acting "in the moment" when contacting the Practice via telephone and making her complaint to the Health Board?

Did Councillor Watkins exaggerate the behaviour of the Practice's staff when making her complaint to the Health Board?"

11. The Chair advised Councillor Watkins that the Committee had taken the preliminary view that these were not disputed facts, as such, as there did not appear to be any issue regarding what events took place and what was said. These were matters of record, as a full transcript of the telephone conversations was included at Appendix 12 to the investigation report and her written complaints to the Health Board were also well documented. The identified matters of dispute appeared to relate to her state of mind and intention which, in turn were more relevant to whether she had breached the Code of Conduct and, if so, the seriousness if such a breach.

- 12. The Chair explained to Councillor Watkins that she would still have the opportunity to make representations regarding these matters at subsequent stages of the hearing. On that basis, Councillor Watkins confirmed that the facts, as set out in the Investigating Officer's report were all agreed.
- 13. Therefore, the Committee proceeded to Stage 3 of the hearing, on the basis of the following undisputed facts:-
 - (a) Councillor Watkins made 2 telephone calls to the Practice on 7th August 2020 to discuss the care and treatment of a patient;
 - (b) Councillor Watkins was acting in her capacity as a member of the Council and as a Council-appointed representative to the Health Board when advocating on behalf of the patient;
 - (c) Councillor Watkins was attempting to assist an elderly patient;
 - (d) The Care Navigator, Mrs Simmons, found Councillor Watkins to be very demanding during the first call. Mrs Simmons dealt with the patient directly.
 - (e) The Care Navigator, Ms Dowsell, found Councillor Watkins to be threatening during the second call and felt that Councillor Watkins was attempting to use her position as a member of the Health Board improperly and threateningly.
 - (f) The Practice Staff were acting in accordance with the Practice's data protection policies.
 - (g) Councillor Watkins made two complaints to the Health Board's Primary Care Unit, on 20th August and 15th September 2020. The Health Board did not uphold either of Councillor Watkins' complaints.
 - (h) Councillor Watkins had historical issues with the Practice relating to her own healthcare.

Stage 3 – Did the Member fail to follow the Code?

- 14. The Committee invited representations from Mr McAndrew as to whether, on the basis of the undisputed and agreed facts, Councillor Watkins had failed to comply with the Code of Conduct.
- 15. Mr McAndrew submitted that the relevant issue was whether Councillor Watkins had failed to comply with the following provision of the Code of Conduct:
 - 7(a) not to, in an official capacity or otherwise, use or attempt to use her position improperly to confer on or secure for herself, or any other person, an advantage or create or avoid for herself, or any other person, a disadvantage.
- 16. Although paragraph 7(a) of the Code applies to all members at all times, and not just when they were acting in an official capacity, Mr McAndrew submitted that Councillor

Watkins was acting at all times in her capacity as a Councillor. She had introduced herself as a Councillor during the telephone calls to the Practice and, in the second call, had stated that she was acting in her capacity as a member of the Health Board. The subsequent complaints to the Health Board about the Practice were also made in her capacity as a Councillor and were sent from her official Councillor E-mail account.

- 17. Mr McAndrew accepted that Councillor Watkins was initially trying to be helpful when she contacted the Practice on behalf of an elderly patient but she was forceful in the way that she spoke to the Care Navigators. She also threatened to approach the Chief Executive of the Health Board regarding their refusal to put her through to the on-call Doctor. He submitted that it was difficult to see how Councillor Watkins' comments were helpful to either the Practice or the patient. Although the patient had contacted the Councillor in distress, her conjunctivitis could not have been considered as a medical emergency. Therefore, he submitted that Councillor Watkins had improperly used her position as a Councillor and member of the Health Board to try to seek an advantage for her constituent over other patients of the Practice, whose medical needs may have been more urgent, and that her actions constituted a breach of paragraph 7(a) of the Code of Conduct.
- 18. Councillor Watkins had stated during the investigation that she had experienced her own personal issues with the Practice previously about her own healthcare and Mr McAndrew submitted that this may have influenced her behaviour towards them.
- 19. As a member of the Council and its representative on the Health Board, Councillor Watkins should have been mindful of the need to act fairly and appropriately in her role. Mr McAndrew submitted that Councillor Watkins' attempts to use her position as a Council representative on the Health Board to pressurise the Practice staff into acting outside of their standard procedures was, again, a clear breach of paragraph 7(a) of the Code of Conduct.
- 20. Councillor Watkins had admitted at interview that she should not have said she was "acting in the capacity of sitting on the Health Board", as advocating for individual patients in this way was not part of her representational role. Mr McAndrew submitted that this was effectively an admission that she had attempted to improperly use her position in breach of the Code of Conduct.
- 21. Although he accepted that Councillor Watkins was acting "in the moment" during her initial telephone call to the Practice, Mr McAndrew submitted that her subsequent threat to raise the matter with the Chief Executive of the Health Board could not be regarded as a spontaneous response or in the best interests of the patient, as the Practice had already contacted her directly.
- 22. Furthermore, he submitted that Councillor Watkins was certainly not acting "in the moment" when she subsequently made her first complaint to the Health Board 13 days after the telephone calls. In view of the time which had elapsed, she had a significant opportunity to reflect and consider her actions. The complaints made by Councillor Watkins about the Practice were inaccurate and did not reflect the true nature and content of the telephone conversations. The call recordings confirmed that the Practice had properly adhered to its standard procedures and the staff were firm but remained polite and courteous. However, Councillor Watkins' complaints suggested that the staff

had been unhelpful and had a poor attitude. Councillor Watkins also complained that that the Practice had not contacted the patient, when they had clearly done so. Mr McAndrew submitted that Councillor Watkins' complaints were unfair and untrue. In fact, Councillor Watkins had admitted in interview that she "may have come on too strong" in her complaint about the staff.

- 23. Mr McAndrew submitted that Councillor Watkins' complaint to the Health Board was a punitive act because the Practice did not defer to her wishes. In his view, the complaint was an attempt by Councillor Watkins to use her position in the Health Board to undermine the actions of the Practice and create a disadvantage for it and that these actions constituted a breach of paragraph 7(a) of the Code of Conduct.
- 24. The Committee then invited Councillor Watkins to respond to the representations from the Investigating Officer and give reasons why she did not consider that she had breached the Code of Conduct
- 25. Councillor Watkins submitted that this was a vexatious and retaliatory complaint by the Practice. She was not a close personal friend of the lady concerned, but they had met through a befriending service where Councillor Watkins worked as volunteer. The lady was very vulnerable and elderly and she suffered from an eye condition. The lady was very distressed when she spoke to Councillor Watkins about not being able to get an appointment with the Practice for her eye condition and Councillor Watkins had offered to help. The Practice had only offered her an appointment with the Nurse in 9 days' time and no medical treatment. Councillor Watkins had met the lady in Caerleon a few weeks earlier and she seemed to be distressed as the Practice Nurse had just referred her to an optician.
- 26. The first telephone call to the Practice was between 5.00-5.30 pm on a Friday evening and Councillor Watkins wanted to speak to the doctor to ask for a prescription for the lady. She only wanted to support an elderly lady, who lives on her own. Councillor Watkins said that she was incredibly disappointed by the response, although she accepted that, with hindsight, she may have overreacted. Councillor Watkins had worked in the Health Service herself for 42 years and the Practice knew her well.
- 27. Councillor Watkins stated that she had taken the decision to complain to the Health Board about the Practice in her capacity as a local Councillor because she felt that the staff had been unhelpful and the Doctor could have helped by giving a prescription for the lady, which Councillor Watkins could have picked-up for her. If she came-on too forcefully, then she would apologise but she would not apologise for trying to help an elderly lady who was in distress.
- 28. In support of Councillor Watkins, Councillor Routley stated that, in his view, she was not guilty of breaching the Code of Conduct as she was simply trying to help this elderly lady and not secure any personal gain or advantage for herself. She was just trying to speak to the Doctor to get a prescription for the lady.
- 29. Councillor Routley reiterated that, in his view, this was a retaliatory complaint by the Practice against Councillor Watkins. She had previously been hospitalised and had an appointment with the Practice for the Doctor to prescribe her morphine for pain relief. However, when she turned up for the appointment, the receptionist sent her to see the

Practice Nurse, even though she was aware that the Nurse was unable to issue a prescription for morphine. Councillor Watkins had insisted on seeing the Practice Manager but, instead she was sent to the Practice Nurse, which made her feel very upset, particularly as she was still in pain. Following this incident, there had been accusations on social media that Councillor Watkins had been "bad mouthing" the Practice, which was untrue.

- 30. Councillor Routley stated that Councillor Watkins had made the telephone calls to the Practice on behalf of a constituent, who she had met through her befriending service. She was an elderly lady, who had poor eyesight and balance problems, not just conjunctivitis, and Councillor Watkins was concerned about her welfare. Councillor Watkins had worked for over 40 years as a Nurse and, therefore, had medical expertise. Councillor Watkins was not using her position for any personal gain or advantage.
- 31. However, Councillor Routley stated that Councillor Watkins had apologised and had learned that her enthusiasm had been misinterpreted. She had acted "in the moment" and had been given training to ensure that she did not get involved in these types of complaints in the future.
- 32. Mr McAndrew clarified that, although Councillor Watkins may have acted "in the moment" during the first telephone call to the Practice, her subsequent complaint to the Health Board was made 13 days after the event.
- 33. The Committee then retired to consider in private whether Councillor Watkins had breached the Code of Conduct. In reaching their decision, the Committee had regard to the Investigating Officer's report and background documents, the agreed and undisputed facts and also the submissions made by Mr McAndrew and by Councillor Watkins and Councillor Routley.
- 34. The Committee found that paragraph 7(a) of the Code of Conduct was engaged in this matter and that Councillor Watkins was, at all material times, holding herself out as acting as a Councillor and also a representative member of the Health Board. Councillor Watkins admitted that she was pursuing this matter on behalf of a constituent in her ward, she referred to herself as "Councillor Watkins" throughout her telephone conversations with the Practice staff and also complained in her official capacity to the Health Board. Furthermore, she also sought to rely upon her position as a member of the Health Board to unduly influence the Practice and subsequently admitted that she should not have said she was acting in this capacity. The Committee did not consider that it was part of Councillor Watkins' representational role to act as an advocate for individual patients in this way and, therefore, she was attempting to use her position, both as an elected member and as a member of the Health Board, for an improper purpose and in breach of the Code of Conduct.
- 35. The Committee accepted that Councillor Watkins' motives when she first contacted the Practice were well-intended and that she was trying to help an elderly constituent about whom she was genuinely concerned. The Committee also accepted that Councillor Watkins was not seeking to secure any personal gain or advantaged in her actions, at that time. However, the Committee found that Councillor Watkins had improperly tried to use her position as a Councillor and member of the Health Board to unfairly obtain medical priority for her constituent over other patients of the Practice who had more

- urgent medical needs. Despite being elderly and vulnerable, the lady was suffering from conjunctivitis and she had been properly assessed by the Practice in terms of priority for an appointment and a prescription. In trying to use her position to circumvent this process, Councillor Watkins had breached paragraph 7(a) of the Code of Conduct.
- 36. The Committee also found that, in seeking to obtain an advantage for her constituent in terms of medical treatment, Councillor Watkins also attempted to use her position to improperly pressurise the Practice staff into departing from their standard operating procedures, both in terms of patient confidentiality and medical assessment. Insisting on speaking to the Doctor about a confidential medical issue, without the appropriate authority, was a clear breach of GDPR and trying to secure preferential medical treatment for a patient with a non-urgent eye-condition was wholly inappropriate. Given her significant experience in the Health service and as an elected member, Councillor Watkins should have been well aware that this was an abuse of her position.
- 37. The Committee accepted that Councillor Watkins had acted "in the moment" when she first telephoned the Practice late on a Friday evening on 7th August 2020. However, the Committee found that this could not explain or excuse her subsequent behaviour. Having been told that the Practice would contact the patient directly to sort out an appointment and medication, then that should have been the end of the matter. The Committee found it significant that Councillor Watkins appeared to take no steps to contact the lady afterwards to see whether the matter had been resolved to her satisfaction. Instead, she pursued what could only be described as a personal grievance against the Practice.
- 38. Both Councillor Watkins and Councillor Routley referred to this complaint as being "vexatious" and "retaliatory" and they also referred to previous personal issues between Councillor Watkins and the Practice regarding her own healthcare. The Committee did not accept that this complaint against Councillor Watkins was, in any way, a retaliatory act on the part of the staff at the Practice. Conversely, the Committee found that, in pursuing her subsequent complaints against the Practice, Councillor Watkins was influenced by her previous disagreement with the staff. The Committee considered that Councillor Watkins was not making these complaints on behalf of the patient, but on her own account and she was pursuing her own personal grievance because of the earlier incident and also because the staff had failed to defer to her when she originally contacted them about this patient.
- 39. Councillor Watkins had not sought the authority or consent of her constituent to make these complaints on her behalf and, indeed, there was no evidence that she had even contacted the lady to check whether her issues had been resolved. It was some 13 days later, on 20th August 2020, when Councillor Watkins submitted her first written complain to the Health Board. That was clearly a considered and deliberate act, not a spontaneous reaction "in the moment". Furthermore, her follow-up response on 15th September 2020 was 38 days after the original incident. By that stage, such a complaint would have secured no benefit or advantage for the patient as she would, by now, have received an appointment at the Practice. Therefore, based on the balance of evidence, the Committee concluded that Councillor Watkins' motivation in pursuing this complaint was more about her own grievances against the Practice. By using her position as a Councillor and a member of the Health Board to make such a complaint, Councillor

Watkins had not only attempted to create a disadvantage for the Practice but had also sought to secure an advantage for herself in terms of a successful outcome to her complaint. The Committee decided that that this abuse of her position constituted a clear breach of paragraph 7(a) of the Code of Conduct.

- 40. The Committee also concluded that the nature and content of the complaints made by Councillor Watkins to the Health Board were a blatant misrepresentation of the truth and grossly exaggerate the issues. The Committee had regard to the written transcript of the telephone conversations included within the documentary evidence and considered that they did not substantiate the personal accusations made by Councillor Watkins in her written complaint. The Practice staff had properly adhered to their standard procedures and, although they were firm with Councillor Watkins, they remained polite and courteous throughout. There was no evidence to suggest that they were in any way "rude" or "unhelpful", as alleged or at all. In addition, Councillor Watkins had complained that the Practice had not contacted the patient, when they had clearly done so. Therefore, the Committee concluded that Councillor Watkins' complaints about the Practice staff were unfair and untrue. She had subsequently admitted that she may have "come on too strong" in her complaint about the staff. In making a complaint that she knew was exaggerated and, therefore, unfair and untrue, Councillor Watkins was again improperly using her position in a retaliatory manner as retribution against the Practice staff. The Committee again decided that these actions constituted a breach of paragraph 7(a) of the Code of Conduct.
- 41. The meeting then reconvened and the Chair announced the unanimous decision of the Committee that Councillor Watkins had failed to comply with paragraph 7(a) of the Code of Conduct.

Stage 4 – Determination of sanction

- 42. The Committee invited representations from Mr McAndrew as to the appropriate sanction that the Ombudsman would consider should apply in this case, and whether there were any other cases of a similar nature that may provide guidance to the Committee in terms of sanction.
- 43. Mr McAndrew referred the Committee to the Adjudication Panel for Wales Sanctions Guidance. He also referred the Committee to two similar determinations by the Standards Committees of Wrexham County Borough Council and Denbighshire County Council. Copies of all these documents had been circulated in advance of the meeting.
- 44. Mr McAndrew submitted that, with regard to any mitigating factors, Councillor Watkins had initially attempted to assist an elderly constituent and she had also subsequently undertaken further training and learned her lessons. However, she had improperly relied upon her position as a Councillor and member of the Health Board, even if she was trying to help her constituent.
- 45. Mr McAndrew further submitted that there were aggravating factors in this case. This was not a "one-off" incident; she had made two telephone calls to the Practice and a written complaint to the Health Board 13 days afterwards, which was inaccurate and unfairly criticised the staff. Also, this was in the middle of the Covid-19 outbreak, when the Health service was under severe pressure. The two complaints were exaggerated and, although she relied upon the fact that she was acting "in the moment", she had the

- opportunity for reflection prior to the second call and certainly before the subsequent complaint 13 days later.
- 46. He submitted that the breach was also more serious because of the consequences of what she was trying to pressurise the staff into doing, which would have required them to act outside of data protection and also prioritise a non-urgent medical case during a pandemic.
- 47. Because this breach also involved abuse of her position as a representative member of the Health Board, Mr McAndrew submitted that the Committee may wish to consider a partial suspension from her role on the Health Board.
- 48. Mr McAndrew referred the Committee to the similar cases of improper use of a Councillor's position contrary to paragraph 7(a) of the Code and the sanctions imposed by the Wrexham and Denbighshire Standards Committees. In the Denbighshire case, the member concerned had been suspended for a period of 2 months, although he acknowledged that there were other breaches of the Code of Conduct that were taken into consideration in that case. In the Wrexham case, the Councillor had been suspended for 3 months, although there were other breaches of paragraph 4(b) and (c) of the Code, involving a failure to show respect and alleged bullying, that were the subject of an appeal. Nevertheless, the Ombudsman was satisfied that the sanctions were fair and reasonable for cases of this nature.
- 49. The Committee then invited Councillor Watkins to respond on the question of sanctions and any mitigating factors that she wanted the Committee to take into consideration. She stated that she had made two telephone calls to the Practice and remembered asking if the Doctor could call her back. She never intended to take the Doctors away from any emergency care. She was well aware of the difficulties faced by the Practice during the Covid-19 pandemic. She had been told, anecdotally, that this lady had been referred to the Nurse and she needed to see an optician. The lady was 80 years old and very frail and fragile. Councillor Watkins stated that she had worked for 30 years as a District Nurse and 10 years as a Community Nurse and all she wanted to do was help. She was willing to apologise if she had been too forceful but she had acted "in the moment" as it was late on a Friday evening.
- 50. Councillor Watkins stated that she thought she had made the complaint to the Health Board earlier than 13 days after the incident. She did take time to reflect but she felt that she had been let down by the Practice. Councillor Watkins confirmed that there was "history" between her and the Practice Manager. She had arrived at the Practice for an appointment with her GP, following her release from hospital, and had been referred to the Nurse even though she could not prescribe morphine for pain relief.
- 51. Councillor Watkins stated that, as a Councillor, you have to stand up for your constituents. She was clearly calling the Practice as a Councillor on behalf of this constituent, and she was not a personal friend for whom she was seeking any special favours. She only referred to herself as a "Councillor" when she was not making any progress with the staff. If she had come across too forcefully, then she will apologise. She had learned her lesson from this experience and there had subsequently been two further instances where constituents had raised concerns about the Practice with her but she had refused to get involved.

- 52. Mr McAndrew replied that this was an unfortunate response and demonstrated a lack of insight by Councillor Watkins. The incident had taken place 30 months ago but she had made no apology to the Practice. The decision regarding the medical priorities and the appropriate treatment for this lady had been a clinical matter for the Practice to determine. The lady was suffering from conjunctivitis and was offered an appointment in 9 days, which was within the good practice standard of 10 days, as stated on NHS Direct.
- 53. Councillor Watkins responded that the lady was suffering with conjunctivitis but she could not see and that was affecting her mobility.
- 54. Councillor Routley submitted that Councillor Watkins did not believe that she could approach the Practice to apologise while the Ombudsman was investigating this complaint, which she now understood was a misconception. However, she had been given additional training and had been spoken to about her perception, which was clearly different, but she understood that now.
- 55. Mr McAndrew clarified that the draft report was issued to Councillor Watkins in June 2021 and it was clear from that draft that she could approach the Practice directly to apologise, but she had still failed to do so. There was also documentary evidence that the complaint was made on 20th August 2020, 13 days after the incident, and not any earlier as Councillor Watkins had thought.
- 56. The Committee then retired to consider its decision, having regard to the submissions made at the hearing, the other similar cases cited by the Investigating Officer and the Sanctions Guidance document produced by the Adjudication Panel for Wales.
- 57. In reaching a decision on the appropriate level of sanction, the Committee followed the five step process set out in the Sanctions Guidance. The first step was to assess the seriousness of the breach and its consequences. The Committee had regard to the fact that Councillor Watkins' actions were quite deliberate and not inadvertent. It was also not one isolated incident but a continuing course of conduct over a number of weeks. Even though there was no element of personal gain involved, it was clear that Councillor Watkins was using her position to pursue a personal grievance against the Practice. The Committee also attached significant weight to the fact that Councillor Watkins had demonstrated a lack of insight and awareness about what she had done and had expressed no remorse. She had stated that she would apologise if she had been too forceful, but failed to understand that it was not just her manner that was inappropriate but her reliance on her position as a Councillor and member of the Health Board. The Committee also considered that the actual and potential consequences of the breach were significant. There would have been serious implications for the Practice staff if they had breached patient confidentiality and deferred to Councillor Watkins requests and also if her unfair complaint against them had been upheld. Her abuse of her position as a Councillor and member of the Health Board also had significant reputational harm for the Council and undermined public confidence. Having regard to these considerations, the Committee found that this was a serious breach of the Code of Conduct.
- 58. In considering the broad nature of the sanction to be imposed, the Committee considered all of the sanctions available to it, beginning with the sanctions of least impact. The

Committee did not consider that No Action was appropriate given the serious nature of the breach.

- 59. The Committee considered that a Censure was not appropriate given the serious nature of the breach and their concern that there was an apparent lack of understanding and awareness about Councillor Watkins' conduct.
- 60. The Committee decided that a suspension was the most appropriate sanction in view of the seriousness of the breach. It was considered that a temporary suspension from her role was required to reinforce the seriousness of what Councillor Watkins had done, to act as an effective deterrent and to restore public confidence.
- 61. The Committee then considered any relevant mitigating or aggravating circumstances and how these might affect the period of suspension. The Committee accepted that there were mitigating factors in relation to the original telephone call from Councillor Watkins, in that she was not seeking any personal gain or benefit, she was trying to help an elderly patient who was in distress and she had acted "in the moment". However, in the light of the Committee's findings that she was no longer acting "in the moment" during the second call to the Practice and when she pursued the later complaints to the Health Board and also the finding that this was more of a personal grievance, then there were no mitigating factors in relation to these actions.
- 62. The Committee considered that there were a number of aggravating factors in this case. Firstly, Councillor Watkins had demonstrated a complete lack of understanding about the misconduct and its consequences. She was still unfairly trying to blame others, suggesting that this was a "vexatious and retaliatory" complaint by the Practice staff and that her actions had been "misinterpreted". Both she and Councillor Routley repeatedly referred to a previous issue that she had with this Practice about her own healthcare and suggested that this had motivated the staff to make this complaint about her. However, the Committee had found that it was Councillor Watkins complaints about the Practice that were deliberate and retaliatory and that she had been motivated to make this complaint because of her personal grievance against the Practice and also because the staff had failed to defer to her when she contacted them about the elderly patient. This was a deliberate and punitive act and using her position as a Councillor and Health Board member to further this complaint was a serious abuse of trust and power. This was compounded by the fact that Councillor Watkins had deliberately exaggerated the conversation with the Practice staff in her complaint and had unfairly misrepresented the facts.
- 63. The Committee also considered that it was an aggravating factor that Councillor Watkins was an experienced Councillor and someone with considerable experience of working in the Health Service. Therefore, she should have been aware of the potential seriousness of the actions that she was pressurising the Practice staff into taking, in relation to patient confidentiality and breaches of GDPR and also in terms of clinical care priorities. It was a further aggravating factor that this incident took place during the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic and lock-down, when the Health Service was facing unprecedented pressures.

- 64. Finally, the Committee considered that Councillor Watkins failure to apologise for her actions was another aggravating factor in this case. Although Councillor Routley maintained that Councillor Watkins was unaware that she could have apologised to the Practice while the Ombudsman's investigation was ongoing, the draft report had been issued months ago and there was a clear indication that an apology would have been appropriate. Although Councillor Watkins stated at the hearing that she would be prepared to apologise if she had been too "forceful", this was not a fulsome and complete acknowledgement of her inappropriate conduct
- 65. For these reasons, the Committee decided that the aggravating factors in this case far outweighed any mitigation. The Committee then proceeded to consider the appropriate length of the suspension in light of these aggravating and mitigating factors. The Committee noted that the Sanctions Guidance document advised that a period of suspension of less than one month was unlikely to achieve the objectives of the sanctions regime. The Committee also had regard to the periods of suspension of 3 months and 2 months respectively imposed in the Wrexham and Denbighshire cases for similar breaches of paragraph 7(a). Although the Committee acknowledged that there were other breaches of the Code of Conduct taken into consideration in these cases, it was considered that the aggravating factors in Councillor Watkins' case meant that the suspension should be at the upper level of that scale.
- 66. Therefore, the Committee determined that a fair and proportionate level of suspension in this case was 3 months, having regard to the seriousness of the conduct, the deterrent effect of the sanction and the need to restore public trust and confidence. In addition, the Committee considered that Councillor Watkins' flagrant abuse of her position on the Health Board meant that she should not continue in this role. Therefore, the Committee decided to recommend to the Council that Councillor Watkins be removed and replaced as a representative on the Health Board.
- 67. After a length deliberation, the meeting was reconvened and the Chair announced the unanimous decision of the Committee that:
 - (a) Councillor Watkins be suspended from her role as a Councillor for a period of 3 months; and
 - (b) that a recommendation be made to the Council that Councillor Watkins be removed and replaced as a representative on the Health Board.
- 68. The Chair confirmed that a written record of the Committee's decision would be prepared and sent to the parties, setting out the relevant findings of fact and the reasons for the decision.